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|. History of these cases

These Contests and Civil Penalty Proceedings are before ne
based on Notices of Contest filed by Kellys Creek Resources Inc.,
("Kellys Creek") challenging the issuance by the Mne Safety and
Heal th Adm nistration (MSHA) of 44 citations and/or orders
all eging violations of various mandatory safety standards. The
Secretary of Labor ("Secretary") filed three Proposals for
Assessnent of Civil Penalty alleging violations of various
mandat ory standards. Pursuant to Notice, these cases were heard
on January 18 and 19, 1995.

The parties stipulated to the facts of the violations,
i ncludi ng the degree of negligence and gravity, and the findings
of significant and substantial and unwarrantable failure as set
forth in the citations and orders at issue. The Secretary
stipulated to the good faith exhibited by Kellys Creek in
attenpting to achieve conpliance after notification of the
vi ol ations at issue.

In its brief, Kellys Creek chall enges the issuance of one of
the citations®, and two of the orders! at issue on the ground

'Citation No. 3380194



that the Secretary issued nultiple citations for multiple

viol ations of the sane standard in violation of MSHA policy.

Al so, Kellys Creek also it is argued that the inposition of
penalties would violate the Double Jeopardy C ause of the Fifth
Amendnent. Further, Kellys Creek argues that penalties were
erroneously assessed by the Secretary using criteria and
procedures not in effect at the tine of the accident at issue.
Lastly, Kellys Creek seeks a reduction in penalties, and requests
that the Secretary be directed to recal culate the penalties
taking into consideration its financial status. These argunents
are consi dered bel ow.

1. Discussion
A Whet her the Secretary, in violation of his policy,

erroneously issued nultiple citations for nmultiple violations of
t he sane standard.

In January 1992, Kellys Creek was engaged in retreat m ning,
i.e., the renoval of coal pillars fromareas of the mne that had
previously been m ned. The sequence in which various pillar
bl ocks were to be cut was governed by Kellys Creek's Roof Control
Plan ("Plan") on January 1, 1992, a roof-fall occurred, fatally
injuring two mners, and seriously injuring a third. MSHA
| nspector Dani el Johnson issued one citation and two orders based
upon the failure of Kellys Creek to foll ow the sequence set forth
in the Plan. G tation No. 3380194 sets forth a failure to
foll ow the proper sequence in mning pillar block No. 3. Order
No. 3380195 sets forth the failure to follow the proper sequence
in mning pillar block No. 4, and Order No. 3380196 sets forth a
failure to follow the proper sequence in mning pillar block
No. 6. Approximately 20 feet separated the pillar bl ocks
designated as Nos. 3, and 4, and approximately 60 feet separated
the pillar blocks designated as Nos. 4 and 6. Johnson indicated
that the pillar blocks designated as Nos. 3, 4, and 6 were in the
"sanme general area" of the mne (Tr. 57) and in the sanme section,
i.e., third left.

Kellys Creek argues that the citation and orders at
i ssue were inproperly issued as they all cited a violation of
30 CF.R " 75.220 in the sane area of the Mne. |In support of
its position, Kellys Creek relies on the follow ng | anguage in
MSHA' s Program Policy Manual ("PPM):

!Order Nos. 3380195 and 3380196



However, where there are nultiple violations of the
sanme standards which are observed in the course of an
i nspection and which are all related to the same piece
of equi pnent or to the sane area of the m ne, such
mul ti ple violations should be treated as one viol ation
and one citation should be issued. (Resp. Ex. 2,

P. 15).

Johnson indicated that all three cited acts occurred in
t he sane general area of the mne and that the sanme standard was
violated. | note, however, that in his testinony Johnson
expl ai ned that there was not only one violation covering al
three pillars at issue because "these are three separate and
di stinct areas of being violated (sic)" (Tr. 46).

On cross-exam nation, Johnson testified as follows relating
to the cited situations: "Pillars 3, 4 and 6 were three separate,
distinct acts (sic). They were mning in three different places,
not conplying with the roof control plan in three different
| ocations at the sanme tinme." (Tr. 70).

The Pl an, as suppl enented in Septenber 1991, provides a
detailed cutting sequence for the renoval of coal frompillar
bl ocks (Governnment Exhibit No. 18). The renoval of coal from each
pillar block constitutes a separate and di stinct operation.
| thus find that, although the three cited pillar blocks were in
the sanme general area, the operation at each bl ock was distinct,
and hence each pillar block constituted a "distinct area." Thus,
the i ssuance of three separate citations/orders by Johnson was
consistent wwth the PPM Al though the PPM precludes the issuance
of multiple citation of violations of the same standard rel ating
to "the sane area of the mne," it nandates that, "separate
citations shall be issued for: ... identical violations in
distinct areas of a mne" (Resp Ex. 2, P. 15). Further,
Johnson's action herein was fully consistent with Section 110(a)
of the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977 ("the Act")
whi ch provides, as pertinent, as follows: "[e]ach occurrence of
a violation of a mandatory health or safety standard may
constitute a separate offense.”

| conclude that it was not inproper for Johnson to have
i ssued three citations/orders herein.

B. Assessnment of penalties by the Secretary based on
criteria not in effect at the date of the accident at issue

The accident that precipitated the assessnent of the civil
penalties in question occurred on January 1, 1992. On Friday,
January 24, 1992, MSHA published a final rule setting forth new
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procedures for proposing civil penalties under the Act, and

i ncreasing the maxi mum penalty from $10, 000 to $50, 000 (57 Fed.
Reg. 2968, January 24, 1992). The effective date for the new
penal ty assessnent criteria was set for March 1, 1992.

Essentially it is Kellys Creek's position that the
Secretary's assessnent of penalties herein in excess of $10, 000,
was based on a retroactive application of the final rule, and as
such was in error. Kellys Creek seeks an order directing the
Secretary to recalculate the penalty assessnents in accordance
with the regulatory Iimt of $10,000 that was in effect on the
date of the accident (30 CF. R " 100(3)(g)(1991)).

| find Kellys Creek's argunent to be without nmerit, and the
requested relief is denied for the reasons that follow Under the
Act, the Secretary proposes and the Comm ssion assesses civil
penalties for violations of the Act. (See 30 U.S.C. " 815(a) &
(d) and 820(a) & (i)). If an operator contests the Secretary's
proposed assessnent, the Comm ssion's jurisdiction attaches and,
pursuant to Section 110(i) of the Act, the Comm ssion is
aut hori zed to assess civil penalties.

Assessnent of penalties by the Commssion is strictly de
novo. See Youghi ogheny & Chio Coal Co., ("Y & O'), 9 FMSHRC 673,
678 (April 1987) . In Y & O supra, at 678-679, the Conm ssion
el aborated as foll ows:

We have consistently rejected assertions that, in
serving our separate and distinct function of assessing
appropriate penalties based on a record devel oped in
adj udi catory proceedi ngs before the Comm ssion, we are
bound by the Secretary's regul ations, which are
intended to assist himin proposing appropriate
penalties. See, e.g., Sellersburg Stone Co.,

5 FMSHRC 287 (March 1983), aff'd, 737 F.2d 1147

(7th Cr. 1984); Black D anond Coal M ning Co.,

7 FMBHRC 1117 (August 1986); U S. Steel Mning Co.,

6 FMSHRC 1148 (May 1984).

In Y & O supra, the Comm ssion held that once a hearing has
been held, a determ nation by a Comm ssion Judge that the
Secretary did not conply with Part 100 in proposing a penalty
" does not require affording the Secretary a further
opportunity to propose a penalty. Rather, in such circunstances
the appropriate course is for the Cbnnission or its judges to
assess an appropriate penalty based on the record.” Y & O
supra, at 679.




In Y & O supra, at 679, the Comm ssion set forth the basis
for its holding as follows:

The Conm ssion possesses explicit, statutory authority
to i ndependently assess an appropriate penalty assessed
on the record evidence pertaining to the statutory
criteria specified in section 110(i), 30 U S. C

" 820(i), developed before it. The record devel oped in
an adversarial proceedi ng concerning the statutory
penalty criteria invariably wll be nore conplete,
current and fairly bal anced than the information that
is normally available to the Secretary at the pre-
heari ng stage when he nmust unilaterally determ ne and
propose a penalty. Further, because the Conm ssion is
itself bound by proper consideration of the statutory
criteria and its penalty assessnents are thensel ves
subject to judicial review under an abuse of discretion
standard, no conpelling |legal or practical purpose
woul d be served by requiring the Secretary to undertake
again to propose a penalty where a preferable record

al ready has been devel oped before the Conm ssi on.

| conclude that this rationale and the hol ding of the
Comm ssion in Y & O supra, applies with equal force to the case
at bar. | find that a proposed assessnent by the Secretary based
on a retroactive application of a final rule does not mandate
reassessnment, nor does it preclude a de novo assessnent of a
penalty after a hearing.

C. Penalty
1. Docket No. SE 93-584

As a consequence of a roof fall on January 1, 1992,
which resulted in two fatalities, MSHA issued five citations
under Section 104(a) of the Act, one Section 104(d)(1) citation,
and five Section 104(d)(1) orders. Kellys Creek does not contest
the violations. Also, Kellys Creek does not contest the findings
of significant and substantial, gravity, unwarrantable failure,
and |l evel of negligence set forth in these citations and orders.

a. Citation Nos.. 3380190, anmd 33801991,
and Order No. 3380194

On their face, G tation Nos. 3380190, 3380191 and 3380194
appear to cite violative conditions that could have been nost
directly responsible for the roof fall that caused two
fatalities. Accordingly, these violations were of the highest



| evel of gravity. Further, | note that Kellys Creek has not
contested the findings of high negligence relating to Gtation
No. 3380190, and reckless disregard relating to Citation

No. 3380194. 1In assessing a penalty for these violations,
considering the fact that two mners were killed as a result of
these violations, the elements of gravity and negligence are
accorded the nost weight.

However, the penalties to be assessed, however, are reduced
a slight degree due to their effect on the ability of Kellys
Creek to continue in business.® In this connection, although
there is no evidence that Kellys Creek has dissolved, the
Secretary has stipulated that the forner has ceased operations
(Secretary's Brief p.31 n.3). Kellys Creek had net revenue of
$843,200 in the fiscal year ending May 31, 1994, but a |oss of
$45,749.* More inportantly, at the end of fiscal year 1993
Kellys Creek's assets were only $47,306. In April 1995, Kellys
Creek had assets of less than $5,000 and liabilities in excess
of $130, 00.

%Kel lys Creek alleges error on the part of the Secretary iin
not considering the inpact of proposed penalites on its ability
to continue in business. Kellys Creek requests an order
directing the Secretary to properly recal cul ate the proposed
penalty . This request is denied for the reasons set forth
above, (I1(B), infra).

“According to Kellys Creeks' tax return, the | oss anounted
to $60,717. However, | find that this |oss should be reduced by
$14, 923, the accunul at ed depreciation taken as a deduction from
i ncone.



Considering all the above, |I find the following to be the
proper penalties for the follow ng citations/orders: 3380190-
$45, 000, 3380191-$45, 000 and 3380194- $45000. °

b. Citation Nos. 3380192 and, 3380193, Order
Nos. 3380195, 3380196, 33801197, 3380198,
3380199, and Citation No. 3380442.

Based on the levels of gravity and negligence set forth in
these citations and orders not contested by Kellys Creek, and
considering the inpact of a penalty on the ability of Kellys
Creek to continue in business, | find that the foll ow ng
penal ties are appropriate for the violations established by the
followi ng citation/orders: 3380192-%4,500, 3380193-%$2, 700;
3380195- $4, 500, 3380196- $4, 500, 3380197- $2, 700, 3380198- $2, 700,
3380199- $2, 700, and 3380442- $20.

2. Docket No. SE 93-322

These citations and orders were not issued as a result
of the fatal roof fall on January 1, 1992. Based on the |levels
of gravity and negligence set forth in these citations and orders
not contested by Kellys Creek, and considering the inpact of a
penalty on the ability of Kellys Creek to continue in business,
| find that the followi ng penaltiles are appropriate for the
vi ol ations established by the follow ng citation/orders:

2804581- $200, 2804583- $200, 2805080- $200, 3395509- $200, 39511-
$150, and 3395712- $150.

3. Docket No. SE 92-339 (Order No. 3395715)

This order was not issued as a result of the fatal roof fal
on January 1, 1992. Based on the |levels of gravity and
negl i gence set forth in this order, not contested by Kellys
Creek, and considering the inpact of a penalty on the ability of

Wy authority to make a de novo assessnment of a penalty in
excess of $10, 000 for an established violation is based on the
Omi bus Reconciliation Act of 1990, effective Novenber 5, 1990
(Pub.L. 101-508, title I'll, * 3102) which anmended 30 U.S. C.

" 820(a).




Kellys Creek to continue in business, | find that a penalty of
$200 is appropriate for this violation.

D. Wether the inposition of penalties for the cited
viol ations are precluded by the Doubl e Jeopardy C ause of the
Fi fth Amendnent

On July 23, 1992, the United States Attorney for the Eastern
District of Tennessee issued a three count Bill of Information
charging that Kellys Creek and Hollis Rogers, as president,
violated certain mandatory health and safety standards for
underground coal mnes. Kellys Creek subsequently plead guilty
to the three count Bill of Infornmation and received a penalty of
$5,000. The $5,000 penalty was conprised of a $2,000 penalty for
Count 1; a $2,000 penalty for Count 2; and a $1, 000 penalty for
Count 3. Essentially, it is Kellys Creek's position that since
the Bill of Information enconpasses Ctation/ Order Nos. 3380192,
3380193, 3380195, and 33801198, that the Secretary's attenpt to
i npose penalties for these citations/orders violates the Double
Jeopardy O ause by subjecting Kellys Creek to a puni shnment for
t he sane conduct for which it was previously punished in a prior
crimnal proceeding. Kelly Creek relies solely on United States
v. Hal per, 490 U S. 435 (1989), which held as follows: "[U nder
t he Doubl e Jeopardy C ause a defendant who al ready has been
puni shed in a crimnal prosecution may not be subjected to an
additional civil sanction to the extent that the second sanction
may not fairly be characterized as renedial, but only as a
deterrent or retribution.” (490 U. S., supra, at 448-449).

For the reasons that follow, | find that U S. v. Hal per
supra, is not applicable to the Conm ssion's authority under
Section 110(i) of the Act to assess civil penalties where
viol ations of the Act have been established in Comm ssion
pr oceedi ngs.

In US. v. WRWCorp., 986 F.2d 138 (6th Gr. 1993), the
Sixth Grcuit was presented with the i ssue of whether the
i nposition of civil penalties under Section 110 of the Act
follow ng crimnal convictions under Section 110 of the Act
was a violation of the Double Jeopardy C ause. The Court took
cogni zance of Hal per, supra, but followed the previously
established framework to determ ne whether a G vil Proceeding
was punitive or remedial.® The Court referred to United States
v. One Assortnent of 89 Firearns, 465 U. S. 354, 362-63, where the

®Kennedy v. Mendoza Martinez, 372 US 144 (1963) first set
forth the factors to be assessed in determ ning whether a
sanction is civil or crimnal.




Court applied the following test for determ ning whether a civil
proceeding is crimnal and punitive, or civil and renedial:

First, we have set out to determ ne whet her Congress,
in establishing the penalizing nechanism indicated
either expressly or inpliedly a preference for one

| abel or the other... . Second, where Congress has
indicated an intention to establish a civil penalty,

we have inquired further whether the statutory schene
was so punitive either in purpose or effect as to
negate that intention. (quoting United States v. Ward,
448 U.S. 242, 248, 100 S.Ct. 2636, 2641, 65 L.Ed.2d 742
(1980)) (citations omtted).

In WVRW supra, the Court applied this test to penalties
i nposed under Section 110 of the Act as foll ows:

In this case, it is obvious that Congress has intended
the penalties under 30 U S.C. " 820(a) to be civil.

Not only is the statute so | abeled, but the civil

provi sions are sonmewhat broader in scope than the
crimnal provisions. Wereas "wllful"™ violations can
be "puni shed" by a crimnal fine or inprisonnment under
30 U.S.C. " 820(d), civil penalties may be assessed
regardless of fault. 986 F.2d, supra, at 141.

The Court, in WRW supra, next analyzed the purpose of the
civil penalties provided for in Section 110(i) of the Act, and
concluded that it is renedial, rather than a form of punishnent.

In reaching this conclusion, the Court, in 986 F.2d, supra, at
141- 142, stated as foll ows:

We enphasi ze that the civil penalty inposed does
not involve an affirmative disability or restraint, has
not been historically regarded as a punishnment, and
does not require a finding of scienter. The defendants
argue that the inposition of a civil penalty pronotes
the ains of retribution and deterrence, given the
various factors used to determ ne the anount of the
civil penalty. However, even though the application of
these factors to a given case may result in a penalty
which is punitive, we conclude that inposing a civil
penalty for health and safety violations which varies
i n amount based upon the severity of the violation and
the operator's attenpts to cone into i medi ate
conpliance may as readily be ascribed to the renedi al
pur pose of pronmoting m ne safety. Although the
defendants further argue that their behavior was
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already a crinme under 30 U.S.C. " 820(d), as pointed
out above the civil penalty provisions cover a broader
range of conduct than the crimnal provisions under the
Act and are not co-extensive with the crim nal

provi sions. Mreover, it is clear that "' Congress may
i npose both a crimnal and a civil sanction in respect
to the sane act or omssion.'"™ One Assortnent of 89
Firearnms, supra, 465 U.S. at 365, 104 S.C. at 1106-
1107 (quoting Helvering v. Mtchell, 303 U S. 391 399,
58 S.Ct.630, 633, 82 L.Ed. 917 (1938)).

Finally, in WRW supra, the Court analyzed whether the civil
penal ty appeared excessive in relation to a renedial purpose’
Specifically, the Court analyzed whether the civil penalty was
excessive in relation to the Governnent's expenses. |n support
of this analysis, the Court, in WVRW 986 F.2d, supra, at 142,
quoted from Hal per, supra, at 449 as foll ows:

[ T] he precise anobunt of the Governnent's damages and
costs may prove to be difficult, if not inpossible, to
ascertain ... . Simlarly, it would be difficult if not
i npossible in many cases for a court to determ ne the
precise dollar figure at which a civil sanction has
acconplished its renedi al purpose of naking the

Gover nment whol e, but beyond which the sanction takes

on the quality of punishnment. |In other words, ... the
process of affixing a sanction that conpensates the
Government for all its costs inevitably involves an

el ement of rough justice.

In the instant case, according to the Affidavits filed with
the Secretary's Brief, costs for the hours worked by inspectors,
i nvestigators and attorneys on the respective civil and cri m nal
cases, and the costs for their respective neals, |odging and
travel during the course of these investigations, inspections,
and hearings amounts to $47,149.50. This figure does not reflect
the total costs to the governnent, which also included the use of
governnment vehicles, the costs of assessing the penalties, the
costs of clerical and other support staff wthin MSHA, the Ofice
of the Solicitor or the United States Attorney's Ofice in
Chatt anooga, Tennessee, and does not include any anmounts for the

'"This analysis is the last of the factors set forth in
Mendoza v. Martinez, supra. It also was the focus of the court's
attention in Hal per, supra.
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ancillary cost of benefits, e.g., retirement and health
i nsurance, paid to the enpl oyees invol ved.

Based on the holding and rationale set forth in WRW supra,

| find that the penalty provisions set forth in Section 110(i)
of the Act are renedial and civil in nature, and not crimnal.
Further, | find that the costs to the governnent exceed the total
penalty of $16, 200, which | found to be proper for the violations
established for Citation No. 3380192 and Order Nos. 3380193,
3380195, 3380198%, which, in essence, correspond to the acts
pl eaded to in the Bill of Information. | thus conclude that the
assessnent of a penalty, infra, for these orders/citation does
not subject Kellys Creek to a second puni shnent in violation of
t he Doubl e Jeopardy C ause.

ORDER

It is ORDERED that Kellys Creek pay a total penalty of
$160, 420 wi thin 30 days of this decision.

Avram Wi sber ger
Adm ni strative Law Judge

81(C) (1) (b), infra.
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